1948

J. M. Webb v. Margaret Webb : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is a joint and several appeal by the defendants, Margaret Webb as the widow of Wilmer Webb, deceased, and Margaret Webb, as administratrix of the estate of Wilmer Webb, deceased. Except where otherwise noted the brief will be made as to both jointly and severally.

This appeal is from the following:

(1) The refusal of the court to grant a jury trial.

(2) The refusal of the court to admit certain testimony.

(3) The erroneous admission of testimony by the court.

(4) The findings of fact and parts thereof as is set out in the statement of errors.

(5) The conclusions of law as is set out in the statement of errors.

(6) The decree and the whole thereof adjudicating title in the plaintiffs as set out in the statement of errors.

(7) The failure or refusal of the Court to find and decree that the defendant widow and administratrix was entitled to the possession of property of Wilmer Webb not in the partnership described in defendants' counterclaims.

(8) The refusal of the Court to require the surviving partners to account herein to the said administratrix.

(9) The failure to hold that the deed and bill of sale, and each of them, were made without consideration and were only of force and effect to entitle plaintiffs to repayment of the moneys paid out for the expenses of Wilmer Webb's last illness and his funeral expenses.

(10) The findings and decree of the Court that Margaret Webb signed the deed with full knowledge and advice, that she accepted the \$500 check as a consideration and transfer of her rights in the property therein described.

(11) The failure of the Court to find said widow was a creditor of the estate of Wilmer Webb, and entitled out of his personal property included in the bill of sale to a reasonable family allowance, both before his death and after.

(12) The failure of the Court to hold the widow of Wilmer Webb was entitled to a statutory one-third right, title and interest in the real property of Wilmer Webb.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs in this action are two brothers, J. M. Webb, sometimes known as "Jack," "John" and "Johnny," and Spencer Webb. There are two defendants, Margaret Webb as the widow of Wilmer Webb, deceased, and also as the administratrix of his estate. Wilmer Webb was the brother of the plaintiffs. He was also known as Wilmer E. Webb, Willmer and as "Tick." All the parties lived at Deseret, Millard County, Utah.

AS TO THE PLEADINGS:

To better understand the nature of the issues and defenses herein, we give the substance thereof or quote the pleadings.

Plaintiffs brought this action to quiet title to certain real estate located in Millard County, Utah, and in the complaint joined without separately stating an action to quiet title to certain personal property. The complaint alleged an action to quiet title which was pleaded in the usual short form. Coupled with this cause without separately stating it is an action to evict the defendant Margaret Webb from the home of Wilmer Webb, deceased.

The property described in plaintiff's complaint is as follows:

PARCEL A. All of Lots 3 and 4, Block 17, Plat "A," Deseret Town Survey, being part of Section 5, Township 18 South of Range 7 West, S.L.M. (home place of Wilmer Webb and Margaret Webb).

PARCEL B. The West $\frac{1}{2}$ of N.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 4, Township 18 South, Range 7 West, S.L.M. cont. 20 acres. (Wilmer's South Twenty).

PARCEL C. The West $\frac{1}{2}$ of N.E. $\frac{1}{4}$ of S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ and the East $\frac{1}{2}$ of N.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 4, Township 18 So., R. 7 West, S.L.M.; 40 acres.

PARCEL D. Lot 4 (being the Northwest $\frac{1}{4}$ of the Northwest $\frac{1}{4}$) and the S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of the N.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 4; Lots 1 and 2 (being the North $\frac{1}{2}$ of the N.E. $\frac{1}{4}$), the South $\frac{1}{2}$ of the N.E. $\frac{1}{4}$, the North $\frac{1}{2}$ of the S.E. $\frac{1}{4}$, the S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of the S.E. $\frac{1}{4}$, all in Section 5, Township 18 South, Range 6 West, Salt Lake Meridian.

Together with all water rights of whatsoever kind and nature, or howsoever evidenced, used for the irrigation of said lands, or any part thereof.

Together with the following described personalty and chattels used with and in connection with the farming operations of the above described premises and situated thereon or in close proximity therewith, to-wit:

- 9 ewes and lambs;
- 12 head dry ewes;
- 1 buck;
- 4 milk cows—not branded;
- 3 calves—milk strain;
- 1 Hereford bull branded ——— left ribs;
- 13 head Hereford cows and calves branded left ribs;
- 3 work horses;
- 1 saddle horse and saddle;
- 1 pig.

Also an interest and equity in machinery and equipment on the said premises and heretofore owned by Webb Brothers, heretofore consisting of the plaintiffs herein and the said Wilmer Webb, now deceased.

One Chev. 6 Sedan Automobile; 1938 Model; Serial No. 6HA05 21399; Motor No. 1720 110.

(R. 4-5)

ADMINISTRATRIX'S COUNTERCLAIM:

The defendant Margaret Webb as widow of Wilmer Webb and defendant Margaret Webb as administratrix of the estate of Wilmer Webb, deceased, filed separate answers and counterclaims.

As administratrix Margaret Webb by separate answer admitted the allegations of her ap-

pointment and qualification as administratrix, and joined issue with the plaintiffs upon all the other material allegations of the complaint. In addition she, as such administratrix, set out her affirmative defense and counterclaim, therein alleging that Wilmer E. Webb died intestate on the 4th day of July, 1946; that he was a resident of Millard County, Utah, at the time of his death, and as said administratrix further therein alleged:

II—That Margaret Webb is the surviving widow of Wilmer E. Webb, deceased; that from on or about the 21st day of July, 1945, to July 4, 1946, said Wilmer Webb stood in the relation of loco parentis to the three children of Margaret Webb; and that the estate of Wilmer E. Webb is charged with the duty of care, support, and maintenance of said widow and said children during his lifetime and for a reasonable time following the death of said decedent.

III—That on and between the 21st day of July, 1945, and the 4th day of July, 1946, the decedent, Wilmer E. Webb, was the owner of and, together with the defendant herein as his wife, during said time was in possession of the following described property in Millard County, Utah, to-wit:

(Parcel A above)

That thereon was and is situated the home of the said Wilmer E. Webb and of Margaret Webb, his widow. That at all times herein mentioned since the commencement of the above entitled action the defendant, Margaret Webb, has been and now is in possession of said property and claims the same as a widow's homestead under said Wilmer E. Webb, deceased, for herself and said three minor children.

IV—That defendant is informed and believes, and therefore alleges the facts to be that for many years

prior to March 18, 1946, the plaintiffs and Wilmer E. Webb, deceased, were partners in the farming and livestock business; and that at all times herein mentioned prior to March 18, 1946, said partnership was in possession of the following described property located in Millard County, Utah, to-wit:

Parcel 1—Parcel D above, and in addition: the S.E. $\frac{1}{4}$ of the S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 5, Township 18 South, Range 6 West, Salt Lake Meridian. Containing — acres.

Parcel 2 (hereinafter called Parcel "E"). The East $\frac{1}{2}$ of the East $\frac{1}{2}$ of the N.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 8, Township 18 South, Range 6 West, Salt Lake Meridian. Containing 40 acres.

Parcel 3—The same as Parcel "C" above. Containing 40 acres.

That Parcels 1 and 2 aforesaid during said times were owned in an undivided one-third interest by each of J. M. Webb, Spencer Webb, and Wilmer E. Webb; but the possession and use thereof was in the partnership, and the income therefrom belonged to the partnership. That Parcel 3 aforesaid was owned by the said three brothers, John M. Webb, Spencer Webb, and Wilmer E. Webb, each an undivided one-third interest therein, but stood in the name of Webb Brothers; and that the use thereof and the crops therefrom were the property of the partnership.

V.—That on or about the 15th day of March, 1946, the decedent Wilmer Webb, was in need of monies with which to pay for his protracted illness, doctor bills, hospital bills, and monies for the maintenance of his family. That on or about said date said decedent and the defendant herein made and executed to the plaintiffs a certain deed covering all of the above described lands, together with water rights of whatsoever kind and nature or however evidenced, used for the irrigation of said land, or any part thereof, and as a mort-

gage and without any other consideration than as a mortgage, the same was delivered to the plaintiffs to secure the sums to be advanced for and on behalf of said Wilmer Webb and defendant, Margaret Webb.

VI.—That as defendant is informed and believes and therefore alleges the facts to be said Wilmer Webb was to further secure the payment of monies advanced by the plaintiffs and for monies to be advanced for the benefit of Wilmer Webb and defendant, Margaret Webb, on or about March 18, 1946, executed to said plaintiffs a bill of sale on all the property described, the description of which is made in paragraph 2 of plaintiffs' complaint which is made a part hereof by reference. And that pursuant thereto the plaintiffs did advance and pay out for the expenses of last illness, funeral expenses, and for the use and benefit of the defendant, Margaret Webb, (decedent, Wilmer Webb) approximately \$2000.00.

VII.—That on or about the 15th day of March, A. D. 1946, by the mutual consent of the plaintiffs and Wilmer Webb, said partnership herein referred to was dissolved. That in addition to the income and the crops from the above described lands as a part of the partnership assets said partnership on or about March 18, 1946, owned the following property:

1 grain grinder	hay rakes
1 tractor	wagons
1 threshing machine	2 harnesses
1 Chevrolet truck	1 cement mixer
mowing machines	1 manure spreader

and that the same is of a value unknown to the defendant, but on information and belief alleges the facts to be that said personal property above listed in this paragraph was reasonably worth the sum of \$3000.00. That at said time the plaintiffs promised and agreed to account for and pay to said Wilmer Webb the proportionate share of all the monies which had been previous-

ly collected by the plaintiffs, on account of said firm, and also to collect the debts due said firm, and to render from time to time to the defendant on demand full statements of the debts due to said firm and the payments made on account thereof and to pay over to Wilmer Webb his full share of the assets of said firm.

VIII.—That as this defendant is informed and believes and therefore alleges the facts to be, that prior to the dissolution of said firm and of winding up the business of said firm the plaintiffs collected large sums of money being to the sum of \$3000.00 more or less, on account of the income from the crops from said lands of the partnership; and that said plaintiffs have neglected and refused and still neglect and refuse to account with and pay to this defendant the proportionate share of the assets of said partnership so collected as aforesaid or any part thereof, although often requested by the defendant so to do.

IX.—That this defendant is informed and believes and therefore alleges the facts to be that the interest of the estate of Wilmer E. Webb in and to the above described property and the partnership assets are of a value of approximately \$10,000.00.

X.—(Omitted).

FOR A SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

I. This defendant repeats and realleges paragraphs 1 and 2 of the foregoing first cause of action.

II. That at the time of the death of Wilmer Webb, July 4, 1946, he was the owner of and entitled to the possession of the following described property:

Here is described the same personal property described in plaintiffs' complaint, plus the following:

2 guns, scabbard.

1 pair field glasses.

2 watches.

miner's flashlight.
small hand tools.

4 pigs.

200 bushels of grain.

cash from the sale of U. S. Government bonds
in the denomination of \$700.00, to-wit: ap-
proximately \$500.00.

47 shares stock Delta Canal Company, Cert. No.
2853.

58 shares of stock in Deseret Irrigation Co., Cert.
No. 4409.

Other certificates of stock not known to this
defendant, and

Other sundry items of personal property not
known to this defendant.

III. That prior to the commencement of this ac-
tion the plaintiffs wrongfully and unlawfully took pos-
session against the will and without the consent of the
defendant and that prior to the death of Wilmer Webb
said persons wrongfully maintained the possession of
said property and claimed the same as their own, and
have since asserted they were the owners thereof.

IV. That prior to the commencement of this ac-
tion defendant has demanded of the plaintiffs herein
that they return the possession of the foregoing items
and that they relinquish their claims to the same against
this defendant; and that they have declined and refused
so to do, and assert their ownership thereof. The rea-
sonable value of the above named articles taken and re-
tained by the plaintiffs is the sum of \$1500.00.

WHEREFORE DEFENDANT PRAYS:

1. That the persons named in the first cause of
action who claim an interest herein be by the court or-
dered to be made parties hereto.

2. That the Court require the plaintiffs to make

an account of all the receipts and disbursements from or on account of the partnership property described in the foregoing answer and counterclaim; and that thereupon plaintiffs be required to pay over to this defendant any balance found due and owing to Wilmer Webb from said partnership account.

3. That the Court determine that the deed and bill of sale referred to in the foregoing counterclaim be determined to be a mortgage or mortgages; that the Court find the amount advanced or paid out by the plaintiffs which is secured by said mortgage and direct the plaintiffs to convey said property described in said instruments, and each of them, to this defendant upon payment of the indebtedness secured thereby.

4. That the Court make and enter an order that the possession of said property described in both the first and second causes of action which is still in existence and in control of the plaintiffs be forthwith delivered to this defendant.

5. That the Court make and enter a judgment in favor of this defendant and against the plaintiffs, and each of them, for the reasonable value of any items of personal property converted by them, and that said sum be determined by the Court.

6. For such other and further relief as to the Court may seem just and equitable in the premises.

(R. 20-25)

This answer and counterclaim of said administratrix was filed herein on June 10, 1947. The reply thereto was filed July 10, 1947.

(R. 27-29).

Said reply further admits Margaret Webb is the widow of Wilmer Webb; and her qualification as administratrix of his estate; that she was in possession of the home of Wilmer Webb,

but denied that she was entitled to the possession thereof. It further admits that at all times herein mentioned prior to March 18, 1946, plaintiffs and Wilmer Webb were partners in the farming and livestock business. It admits that the above described real tracts "B," "C," "D" and "E" (includes parcels "1," "2" and "3" above) were in the possession of said partnership and that the income therefrom belonged to said partnership; that the ownership of tracts "C," "D" and "E" above of said real estate was one-third in each of said brothers, but it stood in the name of said partnership, and the use thereof and the crops therefrom were property of the partnership (pars. 2, 3, 4, 5, Reply; R. 27). In addition it is in part as follows:

4. Admit the allegations of paragraph 3 of the said counterclaim, but deny that the said defendant is entitled to the possession of the property described in said paragraph either as a widow's homestead or otherwise.

5. Admit the allegations of paragraph 4 of said counterclaim.

6. Admit that on or about the 15th day of March, 1946, the decedent Wilmer Webb made and executed and delivered to these plaintiffs the deed referred to in paragraph 5 of said counterclaim, and allege that the said Margaret Webb likewise made, executed and delivered to these plaintiffs said deed; but deny that the same was given as a mortgage or that it was delivered to the plaintiffs to secure the sums alleged to have been advanced for said Wilmer Webb or to secure any other sums, and allege upon the contrary that said deed was so given by both said Wilmer E. Webb and by said Margaret Webb as a conveyance absolute and for a good

and valuable consideration.

8. Admit that the said partnership was by mutual consent dissolved and the partnership property mutually and amicably divided, but deny each and every other allegation in paragraph VII of the said counterclaim set forth.

11. Answering paragraph II of the second cause of action set forth in the said counterclaim, these plaintiffs deny—that at the time of the death of said Wilmer Webb, he was either the owner of or entitled to the possession of the property set forth in said paragraph and allege upon the contrary that prior to his death he conveyed the said property, excepting the guns and a pair of field glasses, to these plaintiffs for a good and valuable consideration and that at the time of the death of said Wilmer Webb, these plaintiffs were the owners of and entitled to the possession of said property.

(R. 27-28).

The reply denies the other material allegations of the counterclaim.

COUNTERCLAIM

Margaret Webb individually filed an amended answer and counterclaim herein on the 2nd day of September, 1947. Therein she joins issue with the complaint the same as she did as administratrix.

In addition therein she pleads that she owns in her own right an undivided one-third right, title, and interest, in and to the real estate and water rights in tracts "A" and "B" above described, and that she is entitled as the widow of Wilmer Webb to be and remain in possession of

the home of Wilmer Webb, as her homestead. She then pleads:

2. That said Wilmer Webb was also known as Wilmer E. Webb; that he died intestate on or about the 4th day of July, 1946, at Salt Lake City, Utah, and left surviving him the defendant herein Margaret Webb, as surviving widow, and as his sole surviving heir of his estate up to a value of \$25,000.00.

3. (Same in substance as II of administratrix's counterclaim above.)

4. That on or about the 21st day of July, 1945, Wilmer Webb was a man 42 years of age and in apparent good health, that at said time he held out to defendant herein he was the owner of a big modern home in Deseret, Utah, and was the owner of and interested in about 500 acres of land in the vicinity of Deseret, Utah, in part which he pointed out to defendant; and at said time he was in possession of and the owner of the following described lands in Millard County, Utah, to-wit:

A. (Parcel A. above, described here.)

(Parcel B. above, described here.)

B. Together with an undivided one-third right, title and interest in and to the following described property, located in Millard County, Utah, and described as follows:

(Parcel "D" above described here) and also the Southeast quarter of S.W. $\frac{1}{4}$ of Sec. 5, Twp. 18 S. R. 6 W. SLM, containing — acres.

(Parcel "C" and "E" above, described here.)

Together with 59 shares of the Deseret Irrigation Company,

Together with — shares of the Milville Irrigation Company,

Together with 47 shares of the Delta Canal

Company, represented by Certificate No. 2853.

C. Together with the following described personal property:

(Here is described same personalty as is described in par. II of administratrix's Second Cause of Action above),

and less:

grain, cash from U. S. Bonds, and certificates of water stock therein described.

Plus:—40 head of ewes; 30 head of Hereford cows and calves branded left ribs.

D. Together with an undivided one-third interest in the partnership of the partnership of Webb Brothers and that some of said property is described as follows:

(Same personalty here described as set out in paragraph VII of administratrix's counterclaim.)

E. And other property unknown to this defendant.

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