1949

J. M. Webb v. Margaret Webb : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Defendants Were Not Entitled to Trial by Jury

Appellants' assignment of error No. 1 urges that the court erred in not granting a jury trial. There are a number of reasons why the refusal of the trial court to call out a jury is not error.

A review of the pleadings, and a review of the facts

and circumstances leading up to the request of the appellants' for a jury trial will be helpful in determining the question here involved.

The action was commenced by a complaint setting up a cause of action to quiet title to real and personal property, (Tr. 4-8). We concede that under the decisions of this Court a suit to quiet title has been held to be an action at law. (*Babcock vs. Dangerfield, et al.*, 94 Pac. (2nd) 862, 98 Utah 10; *Bolognese vs. Anderson*, 90 Pac. (2nd) 275, 97 Utah 136; *Norback vs. Board of Directors*, 37 Pac. (2nd) 339, 84 Utah 506).

But the question still remains: Are the issues or the major issues under the pleadings equitable. If equitable, then respondents contend the appellants were not entitled, as a matter of right, to a trial by jury.

We call attention to the concurring opinion of Mr. Justice Wolfe in the case of *Petty vs. Clark*, 102 Utah 186, 129 Pac. (2nd) 568, at page 571, wherein it is said:

“In the case of *Norback vs. Board of Directors of Church Extension Soc.*, 84 Utah 506, 37 Pac. (2nd) 339, 345, this court laid down the rule: That ‘If the issues are legal or the major issue legal, either party is entitled upon proper demand to a jury trial; but, if the issues are equitable or the major issues to be resolved by an application of equity, the legal issues being merely subsidiary, the action should be regarded as equitable and the rules of equity apply. *Coulson vs. LaPlant*, Mo. Sup., 196 S. W. 1144;

Southern Pac. Land Co. vs. Dickerson, 188 Cal. 113, 204 Pac. 576; Park vs. Wilkinson, 21 Utah 279, 60 Pac. 945."

The answer of Margaret Webb, as administratrix of the estate of Wilmer Webb, deceased, by way of affirmative defense and counterclaim, alleges that on the 15th day of March, 1946, Wilmer Webb and the defendant made and executed to the plaintiffs a certain deed covering the lands described in the complaint, but that it was given as a mortgage and without any other consideration, (Tr. 21-22). Also that to further secure moneys to be advanced by the plaintiffs, Wilmer executed to plaintiffs a bill of sale of the property described in plaintiff's complaint (Tr. 22). In the prayer defendant asks that the deed and bill of sale be determined to be a mortgage or mortgages, that the court find the amount advanced or paid out by plaintiffs and require plaintiffs to convey all of the property to the defendant under payment of such indebtedness (Tr. 25).

The amended answer and counterclaim of Margaret Webb, as the widow of Wilmer Webb, deceased, pleads that on March 15th, 1946, an attorney for the plaintiffs and Wilmer Webb called on her and made certain representations; that for a consideration of \$500.00 she signed the deed; that the deed was obtained from her and from Wilmer, thereby vesting the apparent legal title to said lands in the plaintiffs; that the deed was obtained with

the intention of cheating and defrauding her out of her widow's one-third right, title and interest in the property, and without any consideration; that Wilmer Webb executed the bill of sale with the intention of cheating and defrauding defendant and that the transfer was without consideration and void (Tr. 35-40); that she executed the deed believing it was a mortgage, relying upon the representations made to her; that the bill of sale and deed were given to defraud her out of her statutory one-third right, title and interest in her husband's estate, and that she will suffer great loss and damage for which she has no plain or speedy adequate remedy at law, (Tr. 41); that portions of the real estate described in the deed is the home of the defendant and is claimed as a widow's homestead, (Tr. 42). The prayer asks that the deed and bill of sale be cancelled and set aside, and if said instruments are not so vacated they be held to be mortgages only (Tr. 42).

The answer of the administratrix (paragraphs VII, VIII and IX of the first affirmative defense and counter-claim, Tr. 22-23), attempts to plead the right to an accounting, and prays that the court require the plaintiffs to make an account of all receipts and disbursements from or on account of claimed partnership property, (Tr. 25).

The major issues, therefore, were to be resolved by an application of equity, and the legal issues, if any, were merely subsidiary. In other words, the basis of the plain-

tiffs' claims and title to the property was the deed and bill of sale passing title to them, and the execution of both were admitted and acknowledged by the defendants' respective answers. The defendants themselves treated the issues as equitable and so announced to the court when the case was called for trial, as evidenced by the following:

THE COURT: * * * There may be a question also as to whether this is a case in which the defendant has a right to a jury trial, being equitable issues involved, it should be decided by the court in any event.

MR. UDELL R. JENSEN: We had in mind that the jury would be advisory to the court. May the record show the money was tendered to the clerk before the setting, and upon suggestion of the court that the money was returned to the defendant's counsel.

THE COURT: The record may show that the jury fee was tendered to the clerk before re-setting of the case, but not before the previous setting. (Tr. 89-90).

The plaintiffs' sole proof in their case in chief was the introduction in evidence of the deed executed by Margaret Webb and Wilmer Webb, and the bill of sale executed by Wilmer Webb, by which title to the realty and water rights, and personal property, passed to the plaintiffs. Since the execution of these documents were

pleaded by the defendants in their respective answers, there would be nothing, so far as the plaintiffs' cause of action is concerned, to submit to a jury. Whether the defendant Margaret Webb was entitled to claim a widow's statutory one-third interest in the realty, and whether she was entitled to claim a homestead, are questions of law which would not, in any event, be submitted to a jury for answer. The other issues, - those raised by the defendants' affirmative defenses, appear to be equitable.

Respondents do not rest their contention that appellants were not entitled to a jury trial solely on the basis that the issues raised by appellants are equitable. Respondents further contend that the appellants were not entitled to a jury trial because demand was not timely made, and a jury trial was for that reason waived. In all of the cases involving the question of a right to trial by jury, this Honorable Court has qualified that right by holding that it exists only "on proper application" and "if timely made." Certainly the defendants did not make a timely demand for a jury. On the contrary, the record shows the demand for a jury was made long after the case had been originally set for trial and at a time when the granting of a jury trial would have been inopportune and would have necessitated a delay of perhaps several months.

The complaint was filed October 26, 1946. Demur-

rers were filed November 22nd, 1946. On January 20th, 1947, and again on April 7th, 1947, the demurrers were overruled and defendants given fifteen days to answer, (Tr. 359). On April 7th, 1947, defendants' counsel was present in court, and the case was set for trial for May 13th, 1947. No jury was demanded, (Tr. 355-6). It is true that answers were not filed on April 7th, but under the order of the court the answers should have been, and the court expected answers would be served and filed on or before April 22nd. On May 10th, 1947, upon application of defendants, they were given until June 10th, 1947, to plead to the complaint, (Tr. 11). On May 12th, 1947, at the request of the defendants, the trial was continued to June 26th, 1947, and on the same day, when the case was again re-set for trial, the defendants did not request or demand a jury (Tr. 356). Again it will be observed that when this case was re-set for trial for June 26th, 1947, the answers should have been and the court expected answers would be filed by June 10th. On June 10th, 1947, separate answers of Margaret Webb, as administratrix, and Margaret Webb, as an individual, were filed.

On June 16th, 1947, at request of the defendants the trial was again continued over from June 26th, and again re-set for trial for July 15th, 1947, without a request or demand for a jury, (Tr. 356). On July 14th, 1947, and one day before the trial date, for the first time, the defendants requested a jury and paid the jury fee, (Tr. 356). Pre-

vious to July 15th, 1947, the defendants requested a further continuance, and on July 15th, 1947, the following proceedings were had in Court:

This case having been heretofore set for trial this date, and counsel for defendants having requested a continuance thereof and having also requested a jury trial, and counsel for plaintiff having stated that he would resist a further continuance of the case unless trial could be had at an early date, it was ordered that the case be set for non-jury trial Wednesday, September 3rd, 1947, at ten o'clock A. M. The clerk was directed to notify counsel for defendants of the setting and was also directed to return to defendants' counsel the jury fee tendered. (Tr. 357).

It must be assumed from the foregoing proceedings that an early trial could not be had before a jury, and the court did not feel that the trial should be unduly delayed because of a request for a jury made after the case had been set for trial several times and continued at the request of the defendants, and particularly when the request for a jury was made one day before the trial date. This Honorable Court should not assume the action of the trial court was arbitrary and without good reason, but on the contrary should assume that with good reason the trial court could not call out a jury during the month of September. It is common knowledge that the population of Millard and adjoining counties consists largely of farmers who are busy irrigating and later harvesting

crops during the late summer and early fall of the year, and it is very difficult to call out and secure a jury at that time of the year. It is also common knowledge that in counties such as Millard, where the territory is large and prospective jurymen are required to travel many miles to the county seat, the cost to the county of calling out a jury for a special case is prohibitive. Without doubt the court felt an early trial could not be had if the case should be tried before a jury, and without doubt the court felt the plaintiffs were entitled to an early trial after the several continuances at the request of the defendants.

One of the rules of the District Court of the Fifth Judicial District provides as follows:

When a jury is demanded in civil cases, triable by jury, a failure to deposit the jury fee required by law at the time of, or prior to the setting of the case for trial, shall be deemed a waiver of the right to a jury trial. (Tr. 357).

Under the above circumstances, it has been held by this Court, in common with practically all other jurisdictions, that the demand for a jury was not made timely, and hence was waived, and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a jury trial.

Sec. 104-23-6, U.C.A. 1943, provides: Either party to an action of the kind enumerated in the preceding section who desires a jury trial of the same, or of any issue thereof, must demand it, either by written notice to the clerk prior to the time of setting

such action for trial, or within such reasonable time thereafter as the court may order, *or orally in open court at the time of such setting* * * * * .

The statute in question does not provide, as do the statutes of some states, that a jury must be demanded "after issue joined" or that a case may not be set down for trial until after all of the pleadings have been filed. In the case at bar the record shows that the defendants' counsel was in court at the time the case was first set down for trial. The record shows also that the answers of the defendants should have been filed long prior to the trial date, and the answers were delayed at the express request of the defendants.

It was held in the case of *Utah State Building and Loan Assn. vs. Perkins, et al.*, 53 Utah 474, 173 Pac. 950, "it will be seen that the demand for a jury at the time the case was called for trial came too late. Unless there is some record showing a demand at the time specified in the statute, a refusal, and an exception taken to the ruling of the court, the matter is not before this court for review, and the right or privilege of trial by jury will be held to have been waived." Citing *Nichols vs. Cherry*, 22 Utah 1, 60 Pac. 1103; and *Davis vs. D. & R. G. R. Co.*, 45 Utah 1, 142 Pac. 705, 709.

To the same effect are the cases of :

Board of Education of S. L. City vs. West, et al., 55 Utah 357; 186 Pac. 114;

Emerson-Brantingham Imp. Co. vs. Giles, et al.,
59 Utah 54, 202 Pac. 543;

It is a matter of discretion with court to allow or refuse a demand for a jury, when not made within statutory time or extended time provided by court rule, and it is not an abuse of discretion to refuse a late demand for jury trial, if no excuse is shown for failure to make timely demand. *Thompson et ux., vs. Anderson, et al.*, 107 Utah 331, 153 Pac. (2nd) 665.

A party who takes a position which either leads a court into error in procedure, or by conduct approves error committed by court, cannot later take advantage of such error. *Ludlow, et al., vs. Colorado Animal By-Products Co.*, 104 Utah 221, 137 Pac. (2nd) 347.

When the case at bar was called for trial and when the court announced there might be some question as to whether the Webb case was one in which the defendants had a right to a jury trial because the issues involved were equitable and should be decided by the court, counsel for defendants did not urge that this was a law case in which they had an unqualified right to a jury, but conceded that they had in mind that the jury would be advisory to the court, (Tr. 89-90).

In the case of *Osage Oil & Refining Co. vs. McDowell, et al.*, 220 Pac. 609 (Okla.), the court set a trial date for Dec. 9, 1922, the parties in open court having waived a jury. On Dec. 9th the cause was continued, without ob-

jection, to the 15th day of December, 1922, when one of the parties demanded a jury trial, which demand was denied. The Supreme Court of Oklahoma held the demand came too late. In the case at bar counsel for defendants was in court when the case was originally set down for trial, and under the statute waived the right to trial by jury by failing to make his demand at that time. We contend that having once waived the right to trial by jury, a litigant is not entitled to a jury trial as a matter of right because of a continuance.

Where action was called for trial and parties waived a jury but trial was continued to a later date, denial of request for a jury trial at subsequent date was not an abuse of discretion. *Ezzell vs. Endsley*, 169 Pac. (2nd) 309, (Okl).

Refusal of demand for jury trial filed July 19th, 1935, in action commenced in April, 1934, in which defendant entered appearance May 31st, 1934, after case had been noted for trial in May, 1935, is not an abuse of discretion, since demand was not seasonably filed. *Niemeier vs. Rosenbaum*, 63 Pac. (2nd) 424, Wash.

The record shows that throughout the proceedings the appellants adopted a course of delays in pleading and further delays in getting the case to trial.

If the appellants are entitled to a trial by jury under the circumstances herein enumerated it would be tantamount to holding that, having once waived the right to a jury trial by failing to demand it when the case is orig-

inally set, diligent attorneys and litigants who are ready for trial at the time set cannot regain that right, but the dilatory can regain such a right by requesting and procuring one or more continuances. In fact, it would be tantamount to holding that litigants, by securing one or more delays or continuances after a case is once set for trial, could secure a jury trial by artifice and indirection when such a right could not be otherwise secured.

Findings of Fact Are Supported by Evidence

Appellants urge that the findings of fact are not supported by, but are contrary to, the preponderance of the evidence. Respondents, upon the contrary, contend that the findings are not only supported by the evidence, but that the evidence preponderates in favor of the findings and the trial court could not have properly found otherwise.

At the outset the appellants find themselves in the unenviable position of asserting that the case at bar is an action at law and consequently they were entitled to a jury trial, and then urging that the trial court should be reversed because the findings are contrary to a preponderance of the evidence and "will in *equity* be vacated and set aside." If the case be an action at law and the major issues are legal and not equitable, then the rule to be applied must be:

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